# LLT1-MEDIATED IMMUNOTHERAPY FOR HEPATOCELLULAR CARCINOMA

# THESIS

Presented to the Graduate Council of the

School of Biomedical Sciences

University of North Texas

Health Science Center at Fort Worth

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

## MASTER OF BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES

By

Michaela Allison, B.S.

Fort Worth, Texas

July 2022

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first and foremost like to acknowledge my principal investigator, Dr. S. Mathew, for his consistent mentorship and support throughout my graduate degree. I am very thankful for his guidance and patience during my graduate school journey and for always being willing to answer questions. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members Dr. Chaudhary, Dr. P. Mathew, and Dr. Forster for their consistent recommendations and advice. I would especially like to thank Dr. Chaudhary for his help in acquiring patient RNA seq. data from a mass database and western blot assistance. I would also like to acknowledge my department advisor, Dr. Borgmann, for the mentorship, encouragement, and kindness that she has shown me through this process. I would like to acknowledge the other Mathew lab members who have been a huge part of my graduate journey including previous student Casey Buller who taught me everything I know and current students Luke Cooksey and Nourhan Galal. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Shrestha for always being willing to assist with flow cytometry experiments and being available when I have questions. I would also like to acknowledge Kishor Kunwar for his assistance with the confocal microscope and his advice on how to improve my images. I would like to thank Dr. Fudala's lab, especially Ammar Kapic, for teaching me how to use their plate reader and assisting me on multiple occasions to ensure that I was able to obtain data using the correct settings.

Collectively, I would like to thank the MIG department for providing me with countless memories, many close friendships, and the tools to continue my journey as a scientist and future professional.

ii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I	2
INTRODUCTION	2
1.1 Hepatocellular Carcinoma	2
1.2 Current treatment options for Hepatocellular Carcinoma	
1.3 The Hepatocellular Carcinoma Microenvironment	5
1.4 Functional Relevance of Intrahepatic Natural Killer Cells	6
1.5 Lectin-Like Transcript 1 (LLT1)	9
1.6 Programmed Death Ligand-1 (PD-L1)	11
1.7 Rationale for Combination Immunotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma	
1.8 Hypothesis and Specific Aims	14
CHAPTER II	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Cell lines and Cell Culture	
2.2 RNA Sequencing Data (TCGA)	
2.3 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)	
2.4 Western Blot	
2.6 Flow Cytometry	
2.7 Confocal Microscopy	

2.8 PBMC and NK Cell Isolation	22
2.9 Cytotoxicity Assays	22
CHAPTER III	24
RESULTS	24
Rationale for Specific Aim 1	24
3.1.1 LLT1 Gene Expression Data in HCC patient tissue samples	25
3.1.2 mRNA Expression of LLT1 in HCC Cell Lines	26
3.1.3 Total Protein Expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC Cell Lines	27
3.1.4 Cell Surface Expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC Cell Lines	27
3.1.5 Localized Cell Surface Expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC Cell Lines	29
Rationale for Specific Aim 2	45
3.2.1 Effectiveness of using Combination Immunotherapy of anti-LLT1 mAb + anti-PD-L1	
mAb	46
CHAPTER IV	52
DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	52
4.1 Discussion	52
4.2 Future Investigations	57

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

## CHAPTER I

Figure 1.1: LLT1-Mediated Immunotherapy......Error! Bookmark not defined. Figure 1.2: Proposed signaling pathway of LLT1-mediated IFN-γ production .Error! Bookmark not defined.

## CHAPTER III

RNA Seq. data demonstrates that LLT1 is upregulated in HCC patient samples ...... Error! Bookmark not defined.

Gene expression of LLT1 is tumor-grade dependent ......Error! Bookmark not defined. LLT1 is elevated in AS populations at the transcript level......Error! Bookmark not defined. Elevated gene expression of LLT1 is strongly associated with decreased survival ......Error!

## Bookmark not defined.

mRNA expression of LLT1 is upregulated in HCC cell lines......Error! Bookmark not defined. Total protein expression of LLT1 is increased in HCC cell lines..Error! Bookmark not defined. Surface expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 is elevated in HCC cell lines ...... Error! Bookmark not defined.

There is a high percentage of LLT1+ and PD-L1+ HCC cells......Error! Bookmark not defined. LLT1 is localized the cell surface in HCC cells ......Error! Bookmark not defined. PD-L1 is expressed at the cell surface in HCC cells ......Error! Bookmark not defined. Anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 mAb treatment enhances HCC cell lysis Error! Bookmark not defined.

## CHAPTER IV

Figure 4.1 A visual representation of the effects of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC. Error! Bookmark not defined.

## CHAPTER I

## **INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1 Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Hepatocellular carcinoma is the most common type of liver cancer and fifth most common cause of cancer-related death. Overall five-year survival rates for HCC remain a bleak 20%, with this percentage dropping significantly when diagnosed in late stages of development[1]. The rate of new cases and death rate has continued to consistently rise since 1992 and is projected to steadily increase through 2030, emphasizing the need for preventative measures and more effective forms of treatment. The most common predisposing factors for HCC include viral infection by HBV or HCV, chronic liver disease, diabetes, excess alcohol consumption, obesity, and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). HCC growth patterns can vary depending on predisposing factors and include nodular, massive, and infiltrative [2]. When an individual has liver disease in the form of fibrosis or cirrhosis, regular screenings for HCC are strongly recommended to catch early signs of tumor growth. Elevated alpha-fetoprotein levels are the most common sign of HCC with over 75% of patients presenting with this symptom[3]. Following alpha-fetoprotein readings, either a CT scan or MRI is performed to confirm the presence of a liver tumor, with a biopsy required in certain cases.

HCC rates per 100,000 persons have been shown to vary depending on location as certain countries have higher rates of predisposing diseases. These at-risk locations include China, Taiwan, Hong Kong, and sub-Saharan Africa. Males have been identified as significantly more at-risk of acquiring HCC with only 20% of cases being female[4]. Studies have shown that prevalence of HCC increases with age as the average age of diagnosis is 60 years old[5]. This elderly age further complicates the treatment process as some patients may not be as receptive to the aggressive therapy methods recommended. Multiple molecular pathway modifications have been identified in HCC which impact cell growth and angiogenesis, apoptosis, the cell cycle, and cell proliferative properties[6]. As such, HCC has been characterized by several genetic regulator mutations with the most commonly noted including TP53, CTNNB1 and those in the TERT promoter[7].

#### 1.2 Current treatment options for Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Treatment options for HCC patients vary depending on both the stage of cancer development and the state of the liver at the time of diagnosis. Early-stage treatment options are generally surgical and can include resection of the tumor nodules, liver transplantation or radiofrequency ablation[8]. Liver transplant and resection of tumor nodules during this stage of development are currently considered the only curative options and patients must meet the Milan criteria (1 lesion  $\leq$  5 cm. or 2-3 lesions  $\leq$  3 cm.) in order to qualify [9, 10]. Although not all patients with early-stage HCC meet these restrictive qualifications, individuals that fall within this category of localized tumors have the best prognosis with a 34%, 5-year survival rate.

Survival rates drop to 12% when diagnosed in intermediate stages of HCC development, with more locoregional treatments offered including TACE (trans-arterial chemoembolization), TARE (trans-arterial radioembolization) and radiation[11]. While prognosis of patients in intermediate stages of HCC development can vary drastically depending on comorbidities and tumor presentation, treatment has remained relatively restricted[12]. Recently, research demonstrating the effect of TACE on immune cell function has indicated that expression of PD-L1 is upregulated in patients following treatment[13]. This interesting correlation of immunosuppression in an already significantly suppressed microenvironment has called attention to the possibility of using TACE combined with systemic immunotherapy to enhance treatment and reduce risk of relapse[14]. Clinical trials testing the efficacy of using a CTLA-4 or PD-L1 blockade following TACE in intermediate stage HCC are currently underway (NCT03638141).

Once HCC has spread to distant tissues and is considered in advanced stages, 5-year survival rates drop to a dismal 3%. Treatment strategies in this stage focus primarily on systemic options such as multi-kinase inhibitors, immune checkpoint inhibitors and multi-faceted combination therapies in an attempt to address the adapting issue of drug resistance and immune suppression [15] [16]. There are several different TKIs (tyrosine kinase inhibitors) which have been approved for late-stage HCC including Sorafenib, Lenvatinib, Regorafenib, and Cabozantinib[17]. Sorafenib is the most used TKI which targets VEGFR (vascular endothelial growth factor receptor) and PDGFR (platelet derived growth factor receptor) and has been the standard of care for advanced HCC since 2007. Although sorafenib was the primary treatment for late-stage HCC between 2007 and 2016, the scope of this form of treatment has been limited, with many patients non-responsive or developing resistance over time[15]. Additionally, randomized phase III trials demonstrated that sorafenib is primarily effective in patients who had prior HBV

or HCV infection, indicating the population-specific receptiveness to this systemic therapy[18]. Atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody) in combination with Bevacizumab (anti-VEGF) became FDA approved for late-stage HCC in 2020 in an effort to combat the multifaceted microenvironment[19]. Although this form of therapy is currently considered one of the most effective options, data shows it has limited efficacy with only 18 out of 336 patients showing a complete response during clinical trials.

### 1.3 The Hepatocellular Carcinoma Microenvironment

The pathophysiology of HCC is complicated as many patients present with multiple comorbidities at once, often beginning with viral infection by HCV or HBV and progressing to cirrhosis or advanced fibrosis [20]. The damaged and mutated state of the liver due to liver disease often results in immune cell dysfunction and an altered microenvironment, putting patients at high risk for HCC [21]. It is estimated that approximately 90% of HCC cases are the result of chronic liver disease due to prior HCV or HBV infection, emphasizing the need for accessible antiviral therapies to reduce the rate of HCC contraction[22]. While both HCV and HBV can ultimately cause cancer, HCC occurs most commonly due to HBV, a DNA derived virus capable of integrating into the host genome. This process of integration and subsequent effects have been identified as key players in progression to HCC by inducing chromosomal instability and mutagenesis of HCC-associated genes[23]. Once the liver has progressed to a cancerous state, the co-diseased state of liver disease and HCC combats immune recognition by oncogenic regulation and mutations which can cause upregulation of biomarkers involved in immunosuppressive effects[24].

In the healthy liver, immune cells are exposed regularly to microbial products and dietary particles through portal circulation and while some inflammation is required for normal metabolic function and tissue remodeling, failure to regulate immune responses to these antigens can lead to an inflamed liver state [25]. Consequently, overly primed and desensitized immune cells in the liver could unintentionally overlook invasion or cancer proliferation. Liver resident immune cells, therefore, play a major role not only in regulation of normal biological processes, but also in ensuring that dysfunction in the form of autoimmune disease or malignancies does not prevail [26]. When dysregulation occurs in the form of excess inflammation or inadequate immune responses, a diseased state can ensue [27]. Once the liver has become cancerous, a highly hypoxic environment is induced, causing secretion of immunosuppressive molecules including cytokines, and chemokines from hepatocellular cells, myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), immature dendritic cells (DCs), stromal cells, and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) [28]. This secretion of molecules can not only suppress resident immune cell activity, but also stimulate suppressor cell activation. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) is a major contributing immunoregulatory enzyme which is upregulated in fibroblasts of HCC patients by proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  [29]. This secretion of IDO acts by stimulating the activation of T-regulatory (Treg) cells which directly suppress activity of both CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and secrete suppressive cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF-B. Secretion of these cytokines can inhibit production of both IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  by NK cells and even downregulate the expression of activating ligands on the surface of the tumor, further suppressing the NK cell response [30]. Unsurprisingly, upregulation of NK cell inhibitory receptors has been identified as a major proponent of the HCC microenvironment and is correlated with a poorer prognosis in HCC patients [31].

### 1.4 Functional Relevance of Intrahepatic Natural Killer Cells

Studies have shown that there is a significantly higher concentration of certain immune cells in the liver than other organs including NK cells, natural killer T (NKT) cells and Kupffer cells, with NK cells specifically playing an important role during cancer proliferation [32]. While NK cells make up ~8% of circulating lymphocytes, they are a highly concentrated immune cell population in the liver comprising ~40-50% of intrahepatic lymphocytes [33]. Although research has indicated that NK cells possess memory capabilities, they are considered part of the innate immune system and play an important role as first responders to malignant or virally infected cells. NK cells can be divided into two primary subsets; CD56<sup>bright</sup>CD16<sup>dim</sup> and CD56<sup>dim</sup>CD16<sup>bright</sup> with roughly 50/50 proportions in the liver [34]. While the CD56<sup>dim</sup> subset is generally considered to have heightened cytotoxic capabilities comparatively, the liver resident (lr)CD56<sup>bright</sup> subset has shown increased lytic properties when co-incubated with HCC cells [34, 35]. The predominant IrCD56<sup>bright</sup> NK cell subset can be identified by simultaneous expression of CD69 and CXCR6, but additional subgroups have been identified which express CD49a[36]. In addition to this location-dependent shift of toxicity, intrahepatic NK cells also possess slightly differing expression of adhesion-associated surface markers which allow them to remain tissue-resident. LrNK cells produce multiple types of effector molecules including TRAIL, granzyme K, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and GM-CSF implicating the potential cytotoxic capabilities, but functional characteristics have not been extensively studied[37].

While functionally similar in some respect to CD8+ T cells, NK cells differ based on both activation properties as well as surface expression of immune-cell specific biomarkers [38]. In contrast to T-cells which are antigen-specific, NK cell activity is controlled via an intricate balance

of activating and inhibitory receptor interactions [39]. Receptor and ligand expression can vary depending on the environment as well as inducing factors such as tumor-secreted cytokines and chemokines [40]. Receptors expressed on the surfaces of NK cells interact with ligands expressed on the surfaces of target cells including host tissues, immune cells, and foreign invaders. Upon interaction with a virally infected or cancerous cell, stimulation occurs via activating receptor interactions and the NK cell releases cytotoxic granules onto the target cell, causing apoptosis and ultimately cell death [41]. Another important mechanism of NK cell activation occurs via antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity, also known as ADCC. When a target cell or cancer is treated with a monoclonal antibody specific for a biomarker expressed, an NK cell expressing the CD16 receptor can bind the Fc region of the antibody, inducing cytolytic activity and subsequent apoptosis of the target cell. This mechanism of NK activation enhances treatment in two ways; first, it blocks inhibitory interactions from being delivered to the immune cell and second, directly stimulates apoptosis of the target. When an NK cell interacts with a healthy cell via inhibitory receptor interactions, suppressive signals are deployed, and the immune cell continues with circulation [41]. Unsurprisingly, cancer cells have adopted this mechanism of immune evasion by upregulating surface expression of markers involved in sending inhibitory signals.

Research showing the correlation between upregulated biomarker expression and poor cancer prognosis in HCC patients signifies the importance of targeting these elements to improve patient recovery <sup>[42], [43]</sup>. NK cell immunotherapies in the form of adoptive transfer, monoclonal antibodies and CAR-NKs are currently being studied for their safety and efficacy in multiple different types of cancer including ovarian cancer, breast cancer and small-cell lung cancer [44] [45, 46]. Adoptive transfer of allogeneic NK cells for HCC has reached clinical trials in China and

Taiwan (<NCT04162158>, <NCT02008929>) but there has not been extensive research on NKassociated markers in HCC, providing a novel avenue to explore [47]. Since HCC induces the upregulation of biomarkers involved in suppressive effects, identification of receptors mediating these responses remains a research topic of interest [48]. Recently, research delving into characterization of novel NK cell receptors has indicated that potentially several different inhibitory biomarkers are expressed in HCC including a CLEC2D family receptor called LLT1 (lectin-like transcript 1) and PD-L1 (CD274, B7 homolog 1). This is indicative that multiple receptor-ligand interactions could be occurring during HCC resulting in the multi-level immunosuppressive effects seen [49].

## 1.5 Lectin-Like Transcript 1 (LLT1)

LLT1 is a C-type lectin transmembrane molecule encoded on chromosome 12 of the human genome and chromosome 6 in mice[50]. While several isoforms of LLT have been identified, LLT isoform 1 is the only surface resident biomarker, with other forms expressed intracellularly. Additionally, it has been shown that LLT1 is expressed intracellularly in most cells including those that are nontumorigenic, but transports to the surface of cancer cells to interact in a suppressive fashion during cancer proliferation[51]. The mechanism of LLT1 transportation to the cell surface is not well understood, but it is estimated that stress signals mediate this process. Expression of LLT1 has also been identified on the surfaces of several immune cell subsets including macrophages, germinal center B cells, T cells, plasmacytoid dendritic cells and NK cells. Unlike other C-type lectin domains which recognize carbohydrates, LLT1 interacts via protein-protein interactions and recognizes the NK cell receptor, NKRP1A (KLRB1, CD161). When LLT1 is expressed on the surface of a cancer cell and interacts via NKRP1A, NK cell activity is suppressed,

and the immune cell is unable to effectively recognize and lyse the cancer cell. Our lab has identified LLT1 as upregulated on the surfaces of several cancer cells including Ewing Sarcoma, Triple Negative Breast Cancer (TNBC), B-ALL, A-ALL and prostate cancer[52, 53]. Research has shown that use of an anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibody blocking LLT1-NKRP1A interactions results in blockage of suppressive signals, subsequently resulting in more active NK cells capable of recognizing and lysing the cancer[53]. These findings illustrate the potential of LLT1 as a therapeutic marker in several different types of cancer. Future research investigating these processes *in-vivo* in a mouse model are important for determining the safety and efficacy of blocking LLT1-mediated suppression for enhanced cancer cell lysis.

Interestingly, expression of LLT1 has also been noted as upregulated on the surface of virally infected cells including EBV and HIV infected B cells, RSV-infected lung epithelium and importantly HBV-infected liver cells due to viral integration and replication[54]. As previously discussed, HBV remains one of the primary threats and predisposing agents of HCC and as HBV remains untreatable, targeting LLT1 could potentially improve patient prognosis in the context of both viral infection and cancer proliferation. Research exploring the relationship between survival rates and expression of LLT1 in HPV-negative Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma implicates it as a marker of tumor aggressiveness[55]. Conversely, elevated expression of LLT1 on tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) was strongly associated with improved patient prognosis. This relationship illustrates the tissue-dependent relevance of LLT1 as a prognostic factor, but additional research is needed to determine functional characteristics when expressed on various immune cell subsets.

When expressed on the surface of NK cells, LLT1 has been indicated to induce IFN- $\gamma$  secretion when an anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibody is used to block the LLT1 receptor [56]. While

the signaling mechanism of LLT1 is not fully understood, research exploring the effects of different pharmacological inhibitors on IFN- $\gamma$  production when LLT1 is expressed on an NK cell and stimulated has implicated the importance of the Src-PTK, MEK/ERK and p38 MAPK signaling pathways[56]. While this secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  has not been shown to increase cytotoxic capabilities of NK cells, it could play an anti-tumor role in activation and recruitment of additional immune cells to the site of cancer proliferation.

Although research has not been done on LLT1 in HCC at the protein level, RNA sequencing data acquired from the online gene database The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) demonstrates that CLEC2D, the gene coding for LLT1, is significantly upregulated in cancerous tissues of HCC patients compared to noncancerous counterparts. Expression at the transcript level, however, is not always indicative of surface proteins interacting at the functional level. Previous research found that resting PBMCs (peripheral blood mononuclear cells) expressed low levels of LLT1 at the gene level, but this expression was not observed in protein form[57]. Collectively, these findings suggest the relevance of exploring LLT1 further in order to determine expression and functionally characterize this biomarker in HCC.

## 1.6 Programmed Death Ligand-1 (PD-L1)

PD-L1 (also known as B7 homolog 1) is a type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein encoded by CD274 in the human genome. This ligand has been identified as upregulated on HCC cells and plays a role in suppressing immune cell activity[58]. The receptor for PD-L1 is expressed on both NK and T-cells and PD-1-PD-L1 interactions inhibit activation, proliferation, and cytotoxic capabilities of these effector cells. A number of signaling pathways have been implicated to regulate the PD-1/PD-L1 axis during cancer including JAK/STAT3, PI3K/AKT, MAPK, and

NFκB[59]. In the context of NK cell activity, this axis exerts inhibitory effects through repressing the activation of PI3K/ERK signaling in NK cells[60]. Its role in HCC has been well characterized, with the approved immunotherapy Atezolizumab targeting PD-L1, and Pembrolizumab targeting its receptor, PD-1.

Interestingly, PD-1 expression has been shown as upregulated on the surfaces of NK cells in the HCC microenvironment. This upregulated expression can be at least partially implicated in the NK cell suppressive effects seen during HCC, but the majority of research has focused on Tcell related effects [61]. Research comparing the percentage of PD-1 NK cells in healthy individuals vs. HCC patients found that there were significantly more PD-1+ NK cells in patients with cancer, with ~15% of circulating NK cells showing expression of this receptor[62]. The authors went on to block the PD-1 receptor via an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody Ab and found that this blockage significantly upregulated CD107a and IFN-y production by these NK cells. This study demonstrated that while expression of PD-1 is typically correlated with T-cell suppressive effects, this inhibitory receptor is also capable of downregulating NK cell activity during HCC, allowing cancer cell evasion. While both anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody therapies have been shown to increase the lifespan of recipients, there has been limited overall recovery when utilized as a monotherapy [63]. Currently, Atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1) is actively used in conjunction with an anti-VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) for advanced HCC patients and is considered the most effective late-stage immunotherapy available but has shown low success rates [64]. With a limited number of targets for ICI therapy in HCC, research focused on identification of potential targets is critical for improved treatment modalities.

## 1.7 Rationale for Combination Immunotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Combining cancer treatments such as chemotherapy and radiation or chemotherapy and immunotherapy for enhanced targeting is not a new concept. Tumor resistance remains a major obstacle to treatment effectiveness, and researchers are finding that combating this resistance by targeting multiple different microenvironment characteristics could prove beneficial for enhanced tumor lysis. Recently, progress in combination therapies for HCC utilizing immune checkpoint inhibitors such as Atezolizumab with anti-angiogenesis factors have significantly improved patient prognosis with a 27% response rate compared to a 12% response rate in patients treated only with sorafenib[65]. While this response rate was promising as it more than double that of the prior firstline immunotherapy for HCC, 95% of the patients experienced side effects with 25% experiencing effects severe enough to discontinue treatment. Although progress, this clinical trial exemplifies the relevance of further exploring more efficacious and potentially less toxic alternative combination therapies. Recent studies exploring the functional properties of using a tumorsuppressing lipid molecule called nanoliposome C6-cermaide (which reduces the number of TAMs or tumor-associated macrophages) with CTLA-4 showed significantly higher suppression of tumor growth in a mouse model of HCC compared to monotherapy treatment[66].

The role of PD-L1 in suppressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity is well understood but targeting this ligand independently has shown limited success. Combining targeted immunotherapy against cancer-associated ligands LLT1 and PD-L1 could prove beneficial because it would provide a form of therapy that specifically upregulates both NK and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity to overcome the microenvironment. Additionally, since many HCC patients co-present with both HBV and HCC, targeting LLT1 could prove synergistically efficacious by targeting both cancerous and virally infected cells.

# 1.8 Hypothesis and Specific Aims

LLT1 and PD-L1 are upregulated in hepatocellular carcinoma and this upregulation suppresses NK cell cytotoxic activity. Blocking LLT1 and PD-L1 with anti-LLT1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies will result in enhanced NK-cell mediated clearance of hepatocellular carcinoma cells.

<u>Specific Aim I</u>: Determine expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes.

<u>Specific Aim II</u>: Determine NK cell cytolytic activity against HCC cells when using combination therapy of anti-LLT1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies.</u>

**Figure 1.1**: **LLT1-Mediated Immunotherapy**. *Image borrowed from Sun et. al, 2019[67]*. Activation of NK cell using anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibody. (Left) Prostate and triple-negative breast cancer cells express LLT1 which can bind to NKRP1A on NK cells leading to inhibition of NK cell function. (Right) However, in the presence of anti-LLT1 antibodies, NK cells can be activated via two mechanisms: (1) blocking of LLT1 prevents inhibitory signal transmission; and (2) activation when NK cell receptor CD16 binds to anti-LLT1 antibody bound to LLT1 on cancer cells.



**Figure 1.2: Proposed signaling pathway of LLT1-mediated IFN-\gamma production.** *Image borrowed from Bambard et al., 2010[68]*. Probable signaling mechanism of lectin-like transcript-1-mediated (LLT1) IFN- $\gamma$  production. IFN- $\gamma$  inhibition data indicates Src-PTK, MEK/ERK and p38 MAPK are required for LLT1-induced IFN- $\gamma$  production but PI3K, PKC and calcineurin/NF-AT are not required. Phosphorylation assays further indicate that ERK is employed by LLT1. IFN- $\gamma$  transcriptional analysis indicates LLT1 does not alter IFN- $\gamma$  transcription, suggesting post-transcriptional regulation is the mechanism by which LLT1 stimulated IFN- $\gamma$  production. We suggest that LLT1 modulates IFN- $\gamma$  post-transcriptional regulation via the MEK/ERK pathway and possibly via the p38 MAPK pathway working independent of PI3K.



**Figure 4.1 A visual representation of the effects of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC**. A) LLT1 expressed on the surface of HCC interacts with CD161 (NKRP1A) expressed on the surface of an NK cell resulting in decreased NK-mediated cytotoxicity. B) PD-L1 expressed on the surface of HCC interacts via its ligand PD-1 to inhibit NK cell activity. C) Treatment of HCC with anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody increases NK cell activity. D) Anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibody treatment blocks LLT1-CD161 interactions. Circulating NK cells recognize the Fc region of the monoclonal antibody and bind via their CD16 receptors to induce ADCC (antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity), causing apoptosis of the target cancer cell. NOTE: ADCC induces apoptosis of the target cell it interacts with, the NK cell releasing lytic granules onto an independent HCC cell is shown to give a visual representation of this process. Image created in BioRender.



## CHAPTER II

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 2.1 Cell lines and Cell Culture

Experiments were conducted using four different HCC cell lines (Hep3B, HepG2, HUH7.5.1, SK-Hep1), control cells comprised of a prostate cancer cell line (DU145), a T-lymphoblast cell line (Jurkat), and a non-tumorigenic hepatocyte cell line (THLE2). All cells were maintained in a 6% CO2 incubator at 37 degrees Celsius and experiments were performed once cells reached 85-90% confluency. HCC cells were cultured using DMEM + 10% FBS +

antibiotic/antimycotic. Jurkat and DU145 cells were used as negative and positive controls respectively for LLT1 and were cultured using RPMI+10% FBS+antibiotic/antimycotic. Primary NK cells isolated from the peripheral blood were used for cytotoxicity assays and were cultured using 4+RPMI + 15% FBS+antibiotic/antimycotic. To minimize damage to surface receptors, a combination of 1X PBS + 1 mM EDTA was used in lieu of trypsin to release the adherent cells from the bottom of the flask. Cells were split once they reached ~90% confluency, generally 2-3 times per week, and new cell lines were thawed every 3-4 months depending on morphological characteristics and growth patterns.

## 2.2 RNA Sequencing Data (TCGA)

RNA sequencing data from HCC patients was obtained from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) to determine gene expression of LLT1 in tumorigenic vs. non-tumorigenic tissues. Data was transformed and compiled to generate tables and determine differences in expression between the various populations shown. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism and included a t-test and Tukey's multiple comparisons. A p-value<0.05 was considered significant.

### 2.3 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

qPCR was performed to observe expression of CLEC2D (the gene coding for LLT1) and CD274 (the gene coding for PD-L1) via RNA extraction  $\rightarrow$  cDNA synthesis  $\rightarrow$  qPCR. Extraction was done using Trizol reagent and cDNA synthesis was performed using a high-capacity cDNA reverse transcriptase kit with RNase inhibitor. Following cDNA synthesis, nanodrop concentrations were recorded using a spectrophotometer and regular PCR was conducted using  $\beta$ - actin primers to confirm that cDNA for each of the cell lines was present and in good quality. Once cDNA quality was confirmed, qPCR was conducted using TaqMan gene expression assays for CLEC2D and CD274. GAPDH was used as the reference gene for each cell line and FAM-MGB served as the probe, with FAM as the 5' reporter and MGB serving as the 3' quencher for maximal specificity. The TaqMan master mix contained the reference dye ROX to account for any background noise. Each sample was run in triplicates. Fold changes in gene expression were calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Statistical analysis included a One-way ANOVA to compare relative changes in gene expression of PD-L1 and LLT1 in HCC cells vs. non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

## 2.4 Western Blot

Western blot analysis was performed to show total protein expression of both LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC vs. non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. Antibodies used against LLT1 and PDL1 (AF3480, MAB1561) were ordered from R&D Systems. The LLT1 antibody was anti-human goat while the PD-L1 antibody was anti-human mouse. A donkey anti-goat HRP antibody was used against the primary LLT1 antibody for detection while a goat anti-mouse HRP antibody was used against the primary PD-L1 antibody.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a loading control and image was analyzed using ImageJ software. Relative densities are shown in bar graphs to compare differences.

## 2.6 Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry was performed to determine cell surface expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in cell lines. Anti-LLT1 and anti-PD-L1 mouse anti-human antibodies conjugated to phycoerythrin

(PE) were used to detect surface expression of LLT1 and PD-L1. Antibodies for flow cytometry (FAB3480P, FAB1561P-025) were ordered from R&D Systems. Since both antibodies were conjugated to PE, surface expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 was determined by staining separate cell samples taken from the same flask. An isotype control (mIgG1-PE) was used for each cell line to account for any potential non-specific antibody binding and DU145 was used as a positive control. Analysis of samples was done using FlowJo software. Mean fluorescent intensity ratios (MFIRs) were calculated as the ratio of experimental live cells positive for PE to the number of live isotype control cells positive for PE. An MFIR of >1.00 indicates expression of LLT1 or PD-L1, while an MFIR of less than or equal to 1.00 indicates no expression compared to the isotype control. Statistical analysis of MFIRs included one-way ANOVA to compare the expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC cells to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. Graphs illustrating the percent of the cell populations positive for LLT1 and PD-L1 were generated by subtracting the percent of cells positive in the isotype control in each sample from the experimental sample specific for LLT1 or PD-L1. Statistical analysis included one-way ANOVA to compare the percentage of cells positive in the non-tumorigenic hepatocytes to the percentage positive in the HCC cells.

## 2.7 Confocal Microscopy

Confocal microscopy was performed to determine localized expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in cell lines. Antibodies were ordered from R&D Systems (AF3480, MAB1561). Primary antihuman anti-PD-L1 antibody is sourced from a monoclonal mouse IgG1 and anti-human anti-LLT1 antibody is sourced from a polyclonal goat IgG. Respective isotype controls (mIgG1) were used for LLT1 and PD-L1 to account for background noise. The secondary antibody used for LLT1 is a donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor-488 antibody. The secondary antibody used for PD-L1 is a goat anti-mouse FITC antibody. Coverslips were coated with Poly-L lysine and 20,000 cells were grown overnight on coverslips. 2-4% paraformaldehyde was used to fix the cells prior to beginning the staining process. Blocking buffer was used which contained 5-10% serum against the secondary antibody host species. Primary staining was done, and dilutions contained serum against the secondary antibody to reduce non-specific binding. Cells were placed in 4 degrees Celsius fridge in a mock moist chamber overnight. The following day, secondary staining was performed for 1 hour at room temperature, followed by counterstaining with DAPI. Coverslips were then mounted on slides using ProLong Gold Anti-Fade Mountant and sealed using clear nail polish. Slides were imaged using an Inverted LSM 880 Airyscan confocal imager. Z-stack images were taken on 20X. Images generated were normalized to isotype control coverslips made for each cell line to account for any potential non-specific binding. ImageJ software was used for image analysis and channels were split to show individual staining of Alexa-Fluor 488 or FITC, DAPI and a composite.

## 2.8 PBMC and NK Cell Isolation

Whole blood was harvested from a donor using ACD tubes containing anticoagulant. Lymphoprep was added to a Leucosep tube for the PBMC isolation and whole blood carefully added. Tubes were spun at 3000x g to obtain separation of phases illustrating the plasma, RBCs, lymphoprep and thin layer of PBMCs. The PBMC layer was collected and washed several times followed by counting with a hemacytometer. Once the PBMC count was established, a Miltenyi Biotec NK cell isolation kit (guaranteed 98%+ purity) was utilized to separate the NK cell subset from other immune cells. Finally, the cell suspension was applied to an LS column and the flow-through containing pure NK cells was collected. Following collection, NK cell counts were

obtained, and NK cells placed in a 6% CO2, 37 degrees Celsius incubator in a T-25 flask with 4+RPMI+15% FBS+An/An. NK cells were not expanded using cytokines, so functional assays were performed within 24 hours of the collection to ensure activity.

## 2.9 Cytotoxicity Assays

Cytotoxicity experiments were conducted using a Delfia assay kit from PerkinElmer. The effector (primary NK cells) to target (cell lines) E:T ratios were 25:1, 5:1 and 1:1 with a control and 3 separate experimental groups for each of the 4 cell lines. The control was treated with a non-specific monoclonal antibody (mIgG1), E1 (experimental group 1) was treated with anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibodies, E2 (experimental group 2) was treated with anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies and E3 (experimental group 3) was treated with a combination of anti-LLT1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies. Following antibody treatment, cells were infused with BATDA reagent. Upon co-incubation of primary NK cells with the treated cell lines, the plate was placed in a 37 degrees C, 6% CO2 incubator for 2 hours. The plate was then centrifuged for 5 minutes at 500 x g to pellet the cells and 20 uL of the supernatant was collected and treated with Europium solution. Percent lysis was measured using a plate reader and calculated based on the level of fluorescence detected in the supernatant.

## CHAPTER III

## RESULTS

**Specific Aim I** – Determine expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes.

# **Rationale for Specific Aim 1**

Current therapeutic options for HCC patients remain minimally successful, especially in late stages of cancer development. With previously explored options targeting angiogenesis factors and focused on mediating T-cell activity, recent exploration has indicated that HCC could be receptive to NK cell immunotherapeutic options[69]. As such, a clinical trial is currently underway

to observe the efficacy of using adoptive transfer of NK cells for late-stage HCC patients (NCT05040438). Novel immunotherapy research focused on identification of new markers that could serve as therapeutic targets is crucial for enhanced treatment that specifically lysis cancer cells. Expression of LLT1 has been shown as upregulated on the surface of multiple different types of cancer and anti-NK cell activity has been well characterized. As HCC should, in theory, provide an excellent target for NK-mediated immunotherapy, steps were taken to determine the expression of LLT1 in HCC to elucidate its therapeutic value.

# 3.1 LLT1 and PD-L1 are Upregulated in HCC Cells Compared to Non-tumorigenic Hepatocytes

## 3.1.1 LLT1 Gene Expression Data in HCC patient tissue samples

Gene expression data was obtained from the mass database The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) to observe expression of LLT1 in cancerous tissues of HCC patients. In figure 3.1a, gene expression of LLT1 in 50 non-tumorigenic hepatocyte patient samples was compared to 371 HCC patient samples by RNA seq. analysis. Data showed that gene expression of LLT1 was significantly upregulated in the HCC patient samples with transcript abundance quantification of 7.6  $\pm$  0.08 in non-tumorigenic tissue samples 8.27  $\pm$  0.04 in HCC tissues. Statistical analysis demonstrated a p-value<0.0001.

To determine if this gene expression varied depending on stage of tumor development, data was compiled of HCC patients with tumor grades 1-4 and compared to gene expression in nontumorigenic tissues and each consecutive grade. The non-tumorigenic tissue group was represented by 50 patient samples, G1 (grade 1) was represented by 55 tissue samples, G2 was represented by 177 tissue samples, G3 by 122 and G4 by 12. The respective transcript abundance for each consecutive sample group was 7.6  $\pm$ 0.08 (normal), 8.02 $\pm$ 0.07 (G1), 8.2 $\pm$ 0.05 (G2), 8.45 $\pm$ 0.06 (G3) and 8.81 $\pm$ 0.2 (G4). Tukey's multiple comparisons test comparing normal to cancerous tissues demonstrated significance between normal vs. G1 (p-value 0.017), normal vs. G2 (p-value<.0001), normal vs. G3 (p-value<.0001), normal vs. G4 (p-value<.0001). Significance was also noted between grades G1 vs. G3 (p-value 0.0015), G1 vs. G4 (p-value 0.003), G2 vs. G3 (p-value .02) and G2 vs. G4 (p-value 0.025). Significance was not observed between groups G1 vs. G2 (p-value 0.43) and G3 vs. G4 (p-value of 0.39).

Racial differences in gene expression levels of LLT1 in patients with HCC was also observed. Non-tumorigenic (normal) tissues were not divided based on race and was comprised of 50 patient samples, 185 Caucasian American samples, 17 African American samples and 159 Asian American samples. Significance was detected between normal ( $7.6\pm0.08$ ) vs. each of the respective samples, as expected. Transcript abundance in Caucasian American individuals was noted as  $8.16\pm0.05$ , in African Americans,  $8.3\pm0.22$  and in Asian Americans,  $8.41\pm0.06$ . While no significance in transcript levels of LLT1 was noted between Caucasian American tissues and African American tissues or African American vs. Asian American, there was significant difference in gene expression detected between Caucasian American and Asian American patient samples demonstrated by a p-value of 0.004.

To determine if gene expression of LLT1 is correlated with percent survival of HCC patients, data was put into a line plot to demonstrate survival rate based on low/medium or high expression of LLT1. Graphs were separated based on tumor grade of 1+2 and 3+4. Results did not indicate a statistical significance between survival rate and low/medium and high expression of

LLT1 in HCC patients with tumor grade 1+2. A strong correlation was noted, however, in tumor grade 3+4 with increased expression of LLT1 a prognostic indicator of decreased percent survival (p-value of 0.017).

### 3.1.2 mRNA Expression of LLT1 in HCC Cell Lines

To determine if mRNA expression of LLT1 is upregulated in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocyte cells, qPCR was performed using TaqMan reagents. THLE2 (nontumorigenic hepatocytes) were normalized to one and everything higher than 1 was considered upregulated gene expression comparatively. Gene expression data was analyzed using the  $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Statistical analysis included one-way ANOVA to compare mRNA expression of LLT1 in non-tumorigenic hepatocytes to HCC cell lines. mRNA expression of LLT1 in HepG2, Hep3B, HUH7.5.1, and SK-Hep1 was shown as upregulated by 22%, 28%, 257%, and 293% compared to the non-tumorigenic hepatocytes, respectively. Statistical analysis demonstrated a significance in mRNA expression in THLE2 compared to HUH7.5.1 (p-value 0.0002) and SK-Hep1 (p-value 0.0001). Since a combination immunotherapy will be investigated for efficacy targeting both LLT1 and PD-L1, gene expression of PD-L1 in non-tumorigenic hepatocytes was compared to HCC cell lines. Interestingly, results showed that gene expression of PD-L1 was downregulated in all HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic cells at p-values < 0.0001. While surprising considering PD-L1 is not typically reported as expressed on healthy cells, gene expression is not always directly translatable and correlated to surface expression.

## 3.1.3 Total Protein Expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC Cell Lines

Western blot was performed to look at total protein expression of both LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. Western blot showed that expression of LLT1 in THLE2 (non-tumorigenic hepatocytes) was lower than in HCC cell lines. Conversely, total protein expression of PD-L1 was upregulated in THLE2 and SK-Hep1 cell lines and minimally expressed in Hep3B and HUH7.5.1 cell lines.

## 3.1.4 Cell Surface Expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC Cell Lines

Flow cytometry was performed to look at cell surface expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 where it would be considered functionally relevant in the context of immunotherapeutic targeting. Flow cytometry staining of each ligand was done a minimum of 3 times per cell line. An isotype control was used as the negative control and used for each sample run and is represented by the blue histogram. Average MFIR ratios were calculated using FlowJo software and are the ratio of the fluorescent intensity of the experimental/negative control. An MFIR>1 indicates upregulated expression. The MFIR of LLT1 on the surface of THLE2 cells was averaged over multiple experiments and found to be 1.21. The average MFIR of LLT1 on Hep3B, HUH7.5.1, HepG2 and SK-Hep1 was found to be 4.09, 4.59, 1.81, and 4.24, respectively. One-way ANOVA indicated statistical significance between THLE2 and Hep3B (p-value<0.05), THLE2 and HUH7.5.1 (pvalue<0.05), and THLE2 and SK-Hep1 (p-value<0.05), but a clear trend in increased expression on HCC cell lines is seen regarding all cell lines. Surface staining of PD-L1 showed an average MFIR on THLE2, Hep3B, HUH7.5.1, HepG2, and SK-Hep1 of 0.91, 2.45, 2.19, 1.77, and 1.88, respectively. While statistical significance was not detected between the non-tumorigenic and HCC cell lines regarding degree of PD-L1 expression, a clear trend demonstrates that PD-L1 is

upregulated on HCC cells compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. The percentage of cells positive for LLT1 and PD-L1 was also observed using flow cytometry. Non-tumorigenic THLE2 cells had 4.55% cells that were detected as positive for LLT1 whereas Hep3B, HUH7.5.1, HepG2, and SK-Hep1 had 34.7%, 35.4%, 14.3%, and 35.6% positive cells respectively. One-way ANOVA was performed for statistical analysis and significance was detected between THLE2 and Hep3B, THLE2 and HUH7.5.1 and THLE2 and SK-Hep1 cells. Although HepG2 cells presented with a higher population of positive cells, significance was not detected. For PD-L1 staining, 5.9% of non-tumorigenic THLE2 cells were positive, whereas Hep3B, HUH7.5.1, HepG2, and SK-Hep1 had 45.5%, 31.7%, 22.8% and 30.08% that were positive for PD-L1 respectively. One-way ANOVA analysis indicated significance between THLE2 and Hep3B cell lines only, but a trend in increased expression of PD-L1 on HCC cells was noted.

## 3.1.5 Localized Cell Surface Expression of LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC Cell Lines

Confocal microscopy staining was done to show localized, qualitative surface expression of LLT1 on HCC cells. Surface staining for LLT1 on the surface of cell lines showed an interesting distribution of the ligand. For SK-Hep1 and HepG2, expression appeared to form the characteristic ring generally detected, however, HUH7.5.1 and Hep3B cells demonstrated almost clustered expression on the surface. Respective negative (mIgG1 isotype controls) were included for each cell line and treated in an identical fashion to account for any potential background fluorescence. **Figure 3.1: HCC patients exhibit upregulated gene expression of LLT1.** RNA sequencing data from TCGA was acquired showing gene expression of LLT1 in tumorigenic tissues of HCC patients compared with non-tumorigenic counterparts. Singular dots represent one patient sample and the number of individuals in each cohort is represented above each group. Median normalized expression (log2) is given along with standard deviation (±) of each data set. a) Gene expression of LLT1 in normal vs. tumor tissue of HCC patients. b) Gene expression of LLT1 in HCC patients with increasing tumor grade. c) Gene expression of LLT1 across racial groups; CA – Caucasian American, AA – African American, AS – Asian American. Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used for statistical analysis. \* p-value<.05, \*\* p-value<.005, \*\*\*\* p-value<.0001.





Tukey's multiple comparisons test	Summary	P Value
Normal vs. G1	*	0.0166
Normal vs. G2	****	< 0.0001
Normal vs. G3	****	< 0.0001
Normal vs. G4	****	< 0.0001
G1 vs. G2	ns	0.4283
G1 vs. G3	**	0.0015
G1 vs. G4	**	0.0030
G2 vs. G3	*	0.0222
G2 vs. G4	*	0.0250
G3 vs. G4	ns	0.3946



Tukey's multiple comparisons test	Summary	Adjusted P Value
Normal vs. CA	****	< 0.0001
Normal vs. AA	**	0.0022
Normal vs. AS	****	< 0.0001
CA vs. AA	ns	0.8528
CA vs. AS	**	0.0041
AA vs. AS	ns	0.9176
**Figure 3.2**: **HCC patient survival rates decrease with increased gene expression of LLT1 in stages 3+4 of tumor development.** These tables represent percent survival of HCC patients based on high or low gene expression of LLT1. Data was obtained and compiled from TCGA similarly to the prior figure. Each square represents a single patient in the data set. d) Percent survival of HCC patients with tumor grade of 1 or 2 based on low/medium or high expression of LLT1. e) Percent survival of HCC patients with tumor grade of 3 or 4 based on low/medium or high expression of LLT1.



33

**Figure 3.3**: **mRNA expression of LLT1 is upregulated in HCC cell lines.** Gene expression analysis was performed of LLT1 and PDL1 in HCC cell lines HepG2, Hep3B, HUH7.5.1 and SK-Hep1 compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocyte cell line, THLE2. Bars are representative of two independent experiments done in triplets. a) Gene expression of LLT1 in HCC cell compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. b) Gene expression of PDL1 in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. b) Gene expression of PDL1 in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. One-way ANOVA was used for statistical analysis and significance was considered p-value<.05. \*\*\* p-value<.001, \*\*\*\*p-value<.0001.



**Figure 3.4: Total protein expression of LLT1 is upregulated in HCC cell lines.** Western blot analysis was performed to observe total protein expression of both LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. a) Western blot showing total protein expression of LLT1 and PDL1 in HCC cell lines Hep3B, HUH7.5.1 and SK-Hep1 vs. nontumorigenic hepatocytes, THLE2. Image was analyzed using ImageJ software. b) Bar graphs representative of relative expression of LLT1 and PDL1 in the designated cell lines over two independent experiments. Standard deviation bars represent the variation between the two experiments.



**Figure 3.6: LLT1 and PD-L1 are upregulated on the surface of HCC cell lines.** This figure demonstrates flow cytometry data showing surface expression of LLT1 and PDL1. The blue histogram represents the negative isotype control (mIgG1) used for each cell line. The orange histogram represents the target protein of interest, either LLT1 or PD-L1. A) The top row of histogram graphs shows surface expression of LLT1, and the bottom row shows surface expression of PDL1 in HCC cell lines Hep3B, HUH7.5.1, HepG2, SK-Hep1 compared to nontumorigenic hepatocytes, THLE2. B) Surface expression was measured 3+ independents times for each ligand and averaged. C) Graphs representing the percentage of cells that stained positive for LLT1 or PD-L1 in each experiment.

LLT1 Surface Expression Hep3B THLE2 HUH7.5.1 HUH7.5.1 SK-Hep1 800 MFIR-7.40 MFIR-1.83 MFIR-4.36 MFIR-4.27 600 600 2.08 MFI-1.18 Count Count Count Count Count 400 400 1.0K 200 300 0\_ .10<sup>3</sup> 103 10 103 103 10 PE-A PE-A Comp-PE-A PE-A PE-A PD-L1 Surface Expression THLE2 HepG2



B)





A)



C)

**Figure 3.7: LLT1 is localized at the cell surface in HCC cell lines**. An isotype control (mIgG1 followed by secondary staining with Alexa-Fluor 488) was used for each of the cell lines to normalize Alexa-Fluor 488 intensity. Split channels/composites were generated using ImageJ software. Alexa-Fluor 488 staining represents expression of LLT1. Counterstaining with DAPI was done to show expression of LLT1 relative to the nucleus.







**Figure 3.8: PD-L1 is expressed at the cell surface in HCC cell lines.** An isotype control (mIgG1 followed by secondary staining with FITC) was used for each of the cell lines to normalize FITC intensity. Split channels/composites were generated using ImageJ software. FITC staining represents expression of PD-L1. Counterstaining with DAPI was done to show expression of PD-L1 relative to the nucleus.





**Specific Aim 2** - Determine NK cell cytolytic activity against HCC cells when using combination therapy of anti-LLT1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies.

## **Rationale for Specific Aim 2**

Blockage of the LLT1 and PD-L1 ligands using anti-LLT1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies have been shown to increase NK cell activity against cancer cells. With treatment options exploring combination therapies, especially for complicated cancers such as HCC, upregulation of NK cell activity via multiple different treatments could prove beneficial for overcoming the complicated tumor microenvironment seen. Recently, research has suggested the potential of combining anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody treatment with NK cell immunotherapy to not only enhance the NK cell response, but activate CD8+ T cell populations as well[70]. Synergistic efficacy of combined immunotherapy has been demonstrated by combining antibodies against CTLA-4 and PD-1, but additional targets need to be explored. LLT1 could provide an excellent second target with PD-L1 because both have been implicated in cancer severity and downregulation of immune cell activity. The purpose of this aim is to explore the efficacy and potential synergistic benefits of combining anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibody treatment with anti-PD-L1 treatment.

# **3.2** A combination immunotherapy of anti-LLT1 mAb + anti-PD-L1 mAb upregulates NK cell activity more significantly compared to monotherapy treatment.

#### 3.2.1 Effectiveness of using Combination Immunotherapy of anti-LLT1 mAb + anti-PD-L1 mAb

Cytotoxicity assays utilizing primary NK cells as effector cells were conducted against HCC cell lines. Samples were run in doublets or triplets and averaged. Percent lysis of THLE2 cells at Effector to Target (E:T) ratios of 25:1, 5:1 and 1:1 for the mIgG1 treated group were 25%, 6%, and 28%, respectively. For the LLT1 treated group, lysis was 0%, 23%, and 22%. For the PD-L1 treated group, percent lysis was 17%, 0% and 27%, respectively. The combination treatment using anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies demonstrated 28% lysis, 15% lysis and 6% lysis. Collectively, this data demonstrates that monoclonal antibody treatment with anti-LLT1 mAb, anti-PDL1 mAb, or combined anti-LLT1 + anti-PDL1 mAb did not differ significantly from the negative control. Hopefully, this would be translatable into a host where minimal off-target effects would occur when utilizing this form of treatment. For SK-Hep1 cells, the same E:T ratios were observed (25:1, 5:1, and 1:1). The mIgG1 treated group showed 24% lysis, 19% lysis, and 11% lysis, respectively. The LLT1 treated group showed 35% lysis, 39% lysis, and 28% lysis. The PD-L1 treated group showed 59% lysis, 53% lysis and 39% lysis and the combination treated group of LLT1+PD-L1 showed 52% lysis, 43% lysis, and 43% lysis. Cytotoxicity assays were also performed using the HepG2 cell line at the same E:T ratios. The mIgG1 treated group showed 11% lysis, 10% lysis, and 21% lysis, respectively. The LLT1 treated group showed 18%, 13%, and 13%, respectively. PD-L1 treated group showed percent lysis of 8%, 0%, and 0%, respectively. Lastly, the combination treated group with anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies showed 85% lysis, 59% lysis and 63% lysis. Hep3B cells treated with mIgG1 at the same ratios of 25:1, 5:1, and 1:1 showed 16% lysis, 42% lysis, and 6% lysis, respectively. LLT1 treated showed 63%

lysis, 21% lysis, and 17% lysis, respectively. PD-L1 treated Hep3B cells showed 35% lysis, 20% lysis, and 49% lysis, respectively. The combination treated Hep3B cells showed 52% lysis, 70% lysis, and 69% lysis, respectively. HUH7.5.1 cells were also used in a cytotoxicity assay and lysis of the mIgG1 group at 25:1, 5:1 and 1:1 ratios were as follows: 23%, 14%, and 32%. For the LLT1 treated group, lysis percentages were 21%, 31%, and 31%. For the PD-L1 treated group, percent lysis was 18%, 14%, and 21%. For the LLT1+PD-L1 treated group, percent lysis was 89%, 74%, and 76%.

Percent lysis of the isotype control (mIgG1) was compared to each of the monotherapies (anti-LLT1 mAb, anti-PD-L1 mAb) and anti-LLT1 mAb + anti-PD-L1 mAb for each cell line. Non-tumorigenic THLE2 cells did not show significance between any of the treatment groups. SK-Hep1 cells showed significance between mIgG1 and PD-L1 at all E:T ratios (p-values 0.010, 0.03) and between mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at E:T ratios of 25:1 and 1:1 (p-values 0.036, 0.017, respectively). HepG2 cells showed significance between mIgG1 and LLT1+PD-L1 at all E:T ratios (p-value 0.0002, 0.004, 0.017). HUH7.5.1 showed significance between mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at all E:T ratios (p-value 0.0002, 0.004, 0.017). HUH7.5.1 showed significance between mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at all E:T ratios (p-value 0.0002, 0.004, 0.017). HUH7.5.1 showed significance between mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at all E:T ratio of 25:1 (p-value 0.0003, 0.016). Hep3B showed significance between mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at an E:T ratio of 25:1 (p-value 0.003), mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at an E:T ratio of 25:1 (p-value 0.003), mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at an E:T ratio of 25:1 (p-value 0.004), mIgG1 vs. PD-L1 at an E:T ratio of 1:1 (p-value 0.005), and mIgG1 vs. LLT1+PD-L1 at an E:T of 1:1 (p-value 0.003).

To show the specific percent lysis of the cell lines when using the combination treatment and compare this percent lysis between cell lines, the isotype control treatment group was subtracted from the combination therapy. The resultant percent lysis was considered the specific lysis induced by the combination therapy and statistical analysis was performed to compare the non-tumorigenic hepatocyte cell line to the HCC cell lines. At an E:T ratio of 25:1, significance was noted between THLE2 vs. Hep3B (p-value 0.018), THLE2 vs. HUH7.5.1 (p-value 0.001), THLE2 vs. HepG2 (p-value 0.0008). Significance was not noted between and THLE2 and SK-Hep1 (p-value 0.06). At an E:T ratio of 5:1, significance was only noted between THLE2 vs. HUH7.5.1 cells with a p-value of 0.027. At an E:T ratio of 1:1, significance was noted between THLE2 vs. HUH7.5.1 (p-value 0.0013), THLE2 vs. HUH7.5.1 (p-value .004), THLE2 vs. HepG2 (p-value 0.006), and THLE2 vs. SK-Hep1 (p-value 0.012).

Figure 3.9: Anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody treatment enhances lysis of HCC cells compared to monotherapy. Cytotoxicity assays showing percent lysis of cancer cells based on treatment with mIgG1 (negative control), anti-LLT1 monoclonal antibodies, anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies or anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies. Experiments were run in doublets and averaged, using max lysis and background wells for positive and negative controls, respectively. Statistical analysis to compare treatment groups included a one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. P-value<0.05 is represented by \*, p-value<0.001\*\*, p-value<0.001\*\*\*. A) Percent lysis of cell lines based on treatment. B) Percent specific lysis of cell lines treated with the combination therapy of anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 mAbs.

A)

HUH7.5.1















B)

LLT1+PD-L1 Treated



LLT1+PD-L1 Treated



## CHAPTER IV

## DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

## 4.1 Discussion

Recently, NK cell immunotherapies have been gaining traction as treatments for both hematological and solid tumors. Research investigating potential therapeutic targets remains a critical area as HCC is not very responsive to currently used immunotherapies. Combination immunotherapies focused on upregulating both T and NK cell activity are showing promise for treatment against resistant forms of cancer[71]. LLT1 and PD-L1 are NK-associated markers that have been shown to suppress cytotoxic cell function when expressed on cancer cells, resulting in impaired immune responses. While expression of PD-L1 on the surfaces of cancer cells has been well-established, protein expression of LLT1 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells has not been studied, providing a novel avenue to explore. As virally infected hepatocyte cells have been shown to express LLT1 at the surface and the majority of HCC patients are chronically infected with Hepatitis B or Hepatitis C virus, therapeutics targeting LLT1 could provide multi-faceted benefits[72].

As HCC is characterized by a significantly suppressed microenvironment evident of suppressed NK cell activity, gene data was obtained to determine upregulated expression of certain inhibitory biomarkers. Using the publicly available TCGA database, gene expression of LLT1 (CLEC2D) showed significant upregulation in cancerous tissues compared to noncancerous counterparts as indicated in figure 1a. In addition, this expression was shown to increase with

increasing tumor grade (figure 1b), indicating LLT1 as a potential marker of tumor aggressiveness. This finding was not surprising as advanced HCC tumors often exhibit resistance to a multitude of treatments, a characteristic partially due to prior liver disease and viral infection[73]. In figure 1c, gene expression of LLT1 in Caucasian American, African American, and Asian American populations was compared. It was shown that expression of LLT1 was significantly higher in the Asian American cohort compared to the Caucasian American population. This finding correlates with the disproportionate rate at which Asian Americans acquire viral infection and suggests the potential of higher expression of LLT1 due to co-presentation of viral infection and HCC[74]. Figures 2.1 and 2.2 illustrated the variation in severity depending on expression of LLT1 in early vs. late HCC tumor grade. Cohorts were separated into two groups; early tumor grade (1+2) and late tumor grade (3+4) and divided based on low/medium and high expression of LLT1. In the 1+2 tumor grade group (figure 2.1), expression of LLT1 was not shown to be correlated with percent survival as indicated by the p-value of 0.35. However, in the 3+4 tumor grade group (figure 2.2), high expression of LLT1 was implicated as a marker of aggressiveness as individuals within this category had significantly lower rates of survival compared to the low/medium expression group. This finding emphasizes the need for late-stage therapies that are capable of overcoming the tumor resistance implicated. Reverse transcriptase qPCR was performed next to determine gene expression of LLT1 in HCC vs. non-tumorigenic cell lines and the same trend was observed with HCC cells demonstrating elevated mRNA expression of LLT1 comparatively (figure 4.3). Although surface expression of PD-L1 has been well-established in HCC cells, confirmation experiments were performed alongside LLT1 characterization experiments to quantify the expression in the designated cell lines. qPCR analysis of PD-L1 interestingly showed downregulation compared to the non-tumorigenic cell line (figure 4.3). Since gene expression is

not always directly translatable to protein expression where it is functionally relevant, a western blot was done to determine total protein expression of both LLT1 and PD-L1 in HCC and nontumorigenic hepatocyte cell lines (figure 4.4). Consistent with the qPCR data obtained, protein expression of PD-L1 in the HCC cell lines was lower than in the non-tumorigenic hepatocytes with the exception of the SK-Hep1 cell line, which showed high expression of PD-L1. Although this contradicts the qPCR data demonstrating lower levels of PD-L1 in SK-Hep1, gene and protein expression do not always directly correlate.

As LLT1 and PD-L1 have been shown as expressed both intracellularly and on the surface of certain cells, flow cytometry was performed to determine protein expression at the surface level where interactions with immune cells could be occurring in an inhibitory fashion (figure 4.5). Ultimately, this experiment determined the potential of the ligands as immunotherapeutic targets. Results showed that surface expression of LLT1 was significantly upregulated in HCC cell lines compared to non-tumorigenic counterparts, implicating this marker as a potential mediator of immunosuppressive effects. Additionally, surface expression of PD-L1 was also elevated compared to the non-tumorigenic hepatocyte cell line, but this upregulated expression was not as drastic as LLT1 and did not show statistical significance.

Once surface expression of both LLT1 and PD-L1 was confirmed and this expression was shown as lower in the non-tumorigenic cells, functional assays were performed to explore the functional relevance of these ligands. Previous studies have demonstrated NK cell suppressive effects of both LLT1 and PD-L1, but research has not been performed on LLT1 in HCC[75, 76]. Cytotoxicity assays were conducted using the indicated cell lines (target cells) and primary NK cells (effector cells) isolated from the peripheral blood (figure 4.8). In HepG2 cells, results showed that treatment with an anti-LLT1 mAb combined with an anti-PD-L1 mAb had enhanced lysis compared to the isotype control and anti-LLT1 or anti-PD-L1 individually. Interestingly, anti-LLT1 mAb and anti-PD-L1 mAb monotherapies induced lytic capabilities similar to the control, indicating minimal efficacy. Numerically, the anti-LLT1 mAb treated group had increased lysis compared to the isotype, however, the anti-PD-L1 group demonstrated decreased lysis compared to the isotype. This could be at least partially due to the relatively low expression of both ligands expressed on this cell line in particular but does not account for the seemingly synergistic effect of combining the two therapies. Effectiveness could be related to intrinsic factors such as HepG2 cells possessing minimally resistant characteristics when targeted from multiple angles with NK cell immunotherapy, or LLT1 and PD-L1 could simply be two major mediators of effector cell activity in this cell line. HUH7.5.1 cells demonstrated a similar trend to the HepG2 cell line with the combination therapy showing significantly enhanced lysis of HCC cells compared to the monotherapies. Again, a synergistic effect appears to be occurring due to the combination treatment. Hep3B cells also had enhanced lysis in the combination treatment group. In the SK-Hep1 cell line, anti-PD-L1 mAb monotherapy was the most successful at inducing NK cell lysis, followed by the combination therapy of anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 mAb and finally anti-LLT1 mAb monotherapy. While surprising that the combination group did not have the highest lysis, these results were still promising as it indicates the immunotherapeutic potential of all three forms of treatment to upregulate NK cell activity. Lastly, the THLE2 cell line did not show significant variation in lysis across the three groups included (anti-mIgG1, anti-LLT1, anti-LLT1+PD-L1) indicating that the combination therapy may not cause significant lysis of off-target tissues.

Percent specific lysis of HCC cells compared to non-tumorigenic hepatocytes at all E:T ratios with combination treatment was shown to compare the percent lysis of HCC cells vs. non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. Although somewhat difficult to compare due to variation in cell line

characteristics, these figures demonstrate a clear trend in HCC cell line susceptibility to the combination therapy compared to the non-tumorigenic hepatocytes. This relationship illustrates the potential of using combination immunotherapy blockades against LLT1 and PD-L1 without significant off-target damage.

Although enhanced lysis of HCC cells with the combination therapy was expected, there was minimal success of the monotherapies in upregulating NK cell activity against HCC cell lines, even though high surface expression was detected. These results could indicate that LLT1 and PD-L1 are expressed on different HCC cells, resulting in maximal lysis when combination treatment is employed. Alternatively, since HCC has been indicated as particularly resistant to treatment, there could be multiple receptor-ligand interactions suppressing activity. As such, use of two different mAbs to block inhibitory interactions and induce ADCC could be working synergistically to overcome the suppressive microenvironment, allowing NK-mediated lysis of the HCC cells. This synergy has been demonstrated in Melanoma, with research exploring the efficacy of combining ICIs for enhanced cancer cell lysis[77]. Additionally, NK cells were isolated from a healthy donor and expanding cytokines (IL-2 or IL-15) were not used, so multiple inhibitory blockades could be necessary to effectively activate the NK cells against the HCC cells.

Collectively, this data illustrates the potential promise of combining anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 mAbs for resistant HCC tumors, resulting in enhanced targeting of these cancerous cells. Although there is high variation in demographic information and tumor characteristics between the HCC cell lines used, high percent lysis of the HCC cells was demonstrated in each cell line, illustrating the potential broad usage of this combination immunotherapy. As many currently used therapies for HCC remain minimally successful, especially in later stages of cancer development, identification of additional markers involved in suppression and resistance are needed to effectively target the cancer. NK cell populations are naturally high in the liver, making up ~40-50% of resident lymphocytes. This high population size emphasizes the importance of normal function for continued homeostatic function and early recognition and lysis of virally infected or cancerous cells. During chronic liver inflammation or viral infection, NK cell subsets are initially activated, then rapidly become exhausted, leaving the liver prone to progression to cancer. Once the liver has progressed to a cancerous state, this immunosuppression of NK cells is further exemplified through cancer cell upregulation of markers involved in inhibition of activity. LLT1 presents as a potential therapeutic target as results indicate the role it plays in suppressing NK-cell activity, in the context of TNBC, Ewing Sarcoma, prostate cancer, HCC and virally infected cells[78, 79]. As HCC patients present with multiple comorbidities often including HCV or HBV, targeting this ligand could enhance not only killing of cancer cells, but also virally infected hepatocytes which express LLT1, working in combination to subdue both the cancer and virus. In addition, activation of both NK cells and CD8+ T cells via PD-L1-PD-1 blockade could work synergistically with LLT1 to overcome the multi-faceted tumor microenvironment.

#### 4.2 Future Investigations

While these results demonstrate the potential of a combination immunotherapy for HCC, further research is needed to explore these effects in primary human tissues. Future experiments include performing a subcellular fractionation would show location-dependent expression of LLT1 in HCC cell lines. Further analysis in primary tissues would be the next step to confirm trends in protein expression, followed by a mouse model to determine the effects in a living host. Ideally, the experiments would be performed in an animal with induced mid to late-stage HCC, viral infection in the form of HBV or HCV, and cirrhosis to appropriately replicate the functional relevance of anti-LLT1+anti-PD-L1 against HCC. As the HCC microenvironment remains a major obstacle to overcome and decreases in the number of NK cells have been noted in the liver during cancer, additional *in-vivo* research should investigate the efficacy of NK cell transfusions coupled with ICI treatment. Research has indicated that NK cell transfusions independently have resulted in progression-free survival of an HCC patient with significantly increased quality of life, but the NK cells were not able to mount a significant response until ~10 months of transfusions[80]. Coupling transfusions with ICIs or ADCC inducing forms of therapy could potentially accelerate this process of targeted cancer lysis, decreasing progression of the cancer. Ultimately, combination immunotherapies that upregulate NK cell activity could be the future of treatment for HCC as research continues to indicate the crucial anti-cancer and anti-viral role that they play in this organ system.

# References

- 1. *Cancer Stat Facts: Liver and Intrahepatic Bile Duct Cancer.* 2019 [cited 2022.
- Zimmermann, A., Hepatocellular Carcinoma (Ordinary Hepatocellular Carcinoma), in Tumors and Tumor-Like Lesions of the Hepatobiliary Tract, A. Zimmermann, Editor.
   2016, Springer International Publishing: Cham. p. 1-38.
- 3. Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) Workup. 2022.
- Janevska, D., V. Chaloska-Ivanova, and V. Janevski, *Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Risk Factors, Diagnosis and Treatment*. Open access Macedonian journal of medical sciences, 2015. 3(4): p. 732-736.
- Kennedy, K., et al., *Hepatocellular carcinoma among US and non-US-born patients with chronic hepatitis B: Risk factors and age at diagnosis.* PloS one, 2018. 13(9): p. e0204031-e0204031.
- 6. El-Nakeep, S., *Molecular and genetic markers in hepatocellular carcinoma: In silico analysis to clinical validation (current limitations and future promises).* World journal of gastrointestinal pathophysiology, 2022. **13**(1): p. 1-14.
- Lee, S.E., et al., Frequent somatic TERT promoter mutations and CTNNB1 mutations in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget, 2016. 7(43): p. 69267-69275.
- 8. Santopaolo, F., et al., *Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: Where do we stand?* World journal of gastroenterology, 2019. **25**(21): p. 2591-2602.
- 9. Raza, A. and G.K. Sood, *Hepatocellular carcinoma review: current treatment, and evidence-based medicine.* World journal of gastroenterology, 2014. **20**(15): p. 4115-4127.
- Mehta, N., *Liver Transplantation Criteria for Hepatocellular Carcinoma, Including Posttransplant Management*. Clinical Liver Disease, 2021. 17(5): p. 332-336.

- Rognoni, C., et al., *Trans-arterial radioembolization for intermediate-advanced* hepatocellular carcinoma: a budget impact analysis. BMC Cancer, 2018. 18(1): p. 715.
- Prince, D., et al., *Management of patients with intermediate stage hepatocellular carcinoma*. Therapeutic advances in medical oncology, 2020. 12: p. 1758835920970840-1758835920970840.
- 13. Guo, J., et al., *Effects of transarterial chemoembolization on the immunological function of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma*. Oncology letters, 2021. **22**(1): p. 554-554.
- Fang, T., et al., *Combined with interventional therapy, immunotherapy can create a new outlook for tumor treatment*. Quantitative Imaging in Medicine and Surgery; Vol 11, No 6 (June 2021): Quantitative Imaging in Medicine and Surgery, 2021.
- 15. Zhang, H., et al., *Recent advances in systemic therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma*.Biomarker Research, 2022. 10(1): p. 3.
- Mei, N., et al., *Biological features, gene expression profile, and mechanisms of drug resistance of two- and three-dimensional hepatocellular carcinoma cell cultures.*Pharmacology Research & Perspectives, 2021. 9(1): p. e00715.
- Galle, P.R., et al., *Systemic therapy of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma*. Future Oncology, 2020. 17(10): p. 1237-1251.
- Jackson, R., et al., Impact of Viral Status on Survival in Patients Receiving Sorafenib for Advanced Hepatocellular Cancer: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Phase III Trials. J Clin Oncol, 2017. 35(6): p. 622-628.
- Kudo, M., Limited Impact of Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 Monotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Liver Cancer, 2020. 9(6): p. 629-639.

- 20. Khullar, V. and R.J. Firpi, *Hepatitis C cirrhosis: New perspectives for diagnosis and treatment*. World journal of hepatology, 2015. **7**(14): p. 1843-1855.
- 21. Tarao, K., et al., *Real impact of liver cirrhosis on the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in various liver diseases-meta-analytic assessment*. Cancer medicine, 2019.
  8(3): p. 1054-1065.
- 22. Zhang, X., et al., *Risk Factors and Prevention of Viral Hepatitis-Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma*. Frontiers in Oncology, 2021. **11**.
- Tu, T., et al., *HBV DNA Integration: Molecular Mechanisms and Clinical Implications*.
   Viruses, 2017. 9(4): p. 75.
- 24. Llovet, J.M., et al., *Hepatocellular carcinoma*. Nature Reviews Disease Primers, 2021.
  7(1): p. 6.
- Robinson, M.W., C. Harmon, and C. O'Farrelly, *Liver immunology and its role in inflammation and homeostasis*. Cellular & Molecular Immunology, 2016. 13(3): p. 267-276.
- Wang, Y. and C. Zhang, *The Roles of Liver-Resident Lymphocytes in Liver Diseases*.
   Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. 10: p. 1582.
- Attallah, A.M., et al., *Dysregulation of blood lymphocytesubsets and natural killer cells in schistosomal liver cirrhosisand hepatocellular carcinoma*. Clinical and Experimental Medicine, 2003. 3(3): p. 181-185.
- 28. Lin, C.-A., et al., *Hypoxic microenvironment and hepatocellular carcinoma treatment*.
   Hepatoma Research, 2018. 4: p. 26.
- 29. Nishida, N. and M. Kudo, *Immunological Microenvironment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Its Clinical Implication*. Oncology, 2017. **92 Suppl 1**: p. 40-49.

- 30. Mocellin, S., et al., *IL-10 stimulatory effects on human NK cells explored by gene profile analysis.* Genes & Immunity, 2004. **5**(8): p. 621-630.
- 31. Buller, C.W., P.A. Mathew, and S.O. Mathew, *Roles of NK Cell Receptors 2B4 (CD244)*, *CS1 (CD319), and LLT1 (CLEC2D) in Cancer*. Cancers, 2020. **12**(7): p. 1755.
- 32. Qin, W., et al., *Recent advances regarding tumor microenvironment and immunotherapy in hepatocellular carcinoma*. Hepatoma Research, 2020. **6**: p. 24.
- Mikulak, J., et al., *Hepatic Natural Killer Cells: Organ-Specific Sentinels of Liver Immune Homeostasis and Physiopathology*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. 10: p. 946.
- Melsen, J.E., et al., *Human Circulating and Tissue-Resident CD56bright Natural Killer Cell Populations*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2016. 7: p. 262.
- Hwang, S., et al., *Cytotoxicity of Human Hepatic Intrasinusoidal CD56(bright) Natural Killer Cells against Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells*. International journal of molecular sciences, 2019. 20(7): p. 1564.
- Melsen, J.E., et al., *Human Circulating and Tissue-Resident CD56bright Natural Killer Cell Populations*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2016. 7.
- Peng, H. and R. Sun, *Liver-resident NK cells and their potential functions*. Cellular & Molecular Immunology, 2017. 14(11): p. 890-894.
- Hu, W., et al., Cancer Immunotherapy Based on Natural Killer Cells: Current Progress and New Opportunities. Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. 10: p. 1205.
- 39. Bachiller, M., et al., *Natural Killer Cells in Immunotherapy: Are We Nearly There?*Cancers, 2020. 12(11).
- 40. Dominiak, A., et al., *Communication in the Cancer Microenvironment as a Target for Therapeutic Interventions.* Cancers, 2020. **12**(5): p. 1232.

- 41. Paul, S. and G. Lal, *The Molecular Mechanism of Natural Killer Cells Function and Its Importance in Cancer Immunotherapy*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2017. **8**: p. 1124.
- 42. Kalathil, S.G. and Y. Thanavala, *Natural Killer Cells and T Cells in Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Viral Hepatitis: Current Status and Perspectives for Future Immunotherapeutic Approaches.* Cells, 2021. **10**(6).
- 43. Woan, K.V. and J.S. Miller, *Harnessing Natural Killer Cell Antitumor Immunity: From the Bench to Bedside*. Cancer Immunology Research, 2019. **7**(11): p. 1742.
- Shimasaki, N., A. Jain, and D. Campana, *NK cells for cancer immunotherapy*. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 2020. 19(3): p. 200-218.
- 45. Liu, S., et al., *NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy: from basic biology to clinical development*. Journal of Hematology & Oncology, 2021. **14**(1): p. 7.
- 46. Fuentes-Antrás, J., et al., *Adoptive Cell Therapy in Breast Cancer: A Current Perspective of Next-Generation Medicine*. Frontiers in Oncology, 2020. **10**: p. 2376.
- 47. Sun, C., et al., *Natural killer cell dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma and NK cellbased immunotherapy*. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 2015. **36**(10): p. 1191-1199.
- 48. Onuma, A.E., et al., *Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Hepatocellular Cancer: Current Understanding on Mechanisms of Resistance and Biomarkers of Response to Treatment*. Gene expression, 2020. 20(1): p. 53-65.
- 49. Giraud, J., et al., *Hepatocellular Carcinoma Immune Landscape and the Potential of Immunotherapies*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2021. **12**: p. 699.
- 50. Boles, K.S., et al., *Cloning of a new lectin-like receptor expressed on human NK cells*.
  Immunogenetics, 1999. 50(1): p. 1-7.

- 51. Germain, C., et al., *Characterization of alternatively spliced transcript variants of CLEC2D gene.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(46): p. 36207-15.
- 52. Malaer, J.D. and P.A. Mathew, *Role of LLT1 and PCNA as Natural Killer Cell Immune Evasion Strategies of HCT 116 Cells*. Anticancer Research, 2020. **40**(12): p. 6613.
- 53. Marrufo, A.M., et al., *Blocking LLT1 (CLEC2D, OCIL)-NKRP1A (CD161) interaction* enhances natural killer cell-mediated lysis of triple-negative breast cancer cells.
  American journal of cancer research, 2018. 8(6): p. 1050-1063.
- 54. Braud, V.M., et al., *LLT1-CD161 Interaction in Cancer: Promises and Challenges*.Frontiers in Immunology, 2022. 13.
- 55. Sanchez-Canteli, M., et al., Lectin-Like Transcript 1 (LLT1) Checkpoint: A Novel Independent Prognostic Factor in HPV-Negative Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Biomedicines, 2020. 8(12): p. 535.
- 56. Bambard, N.D., S.O. Mathew, and P.A. Mathew, *LLT1-mediated Activation of IFN-γ Production in Human Natural Killer Cells Involves ERK Signalling Pathway*.
   Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 2010. **71**(3): p. 210-219.
- 57. Germain, C., et al., *Induction of lectin-like transcript 1 (LLT1) protein cell surface expression by pathogens and interferon-γ contributes to modulate immune responses.* J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(44): p. 37964-37975.
- 58. Liu, C.-Q., et al., *Expression patterns of programmed death ligand 1 correlate with different microenvironments and patient prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma*. British Journal of Cancer, 2018. **119**(1): p. 80-88.
- Han, Y., D. Liu, and L. Li, *PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: current researches in cancer*. Am J Cancer Res, 2020. 10(3): p. 727-742.

- 60. Giuliani, M., B. Janji, and G. Berchem, *Activation of NK cells and disruption of PD-L1/PD-1 axis: two different ways for lenalidomide to block myeloma progression*.
  Oncotarget, 2017. 8(14): p. 24031-24044.
- 61. Li, J., L. Tao, and X. Wang, *Cytotoxic immune cell-based immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma*. Hepatoma Research, 2020. **6**: p. 15.
- 62. Liu, Y., et al., *Increased expression of programmed cell death protein 1 on NK cells inhibits NK-cell-mediated anti-tumor function and indicates poor prognosis in digestive cancers.* Oncogene, 2017. **36**(44): p. 6143-6153.
- 63. Macek Jilkova, Z., C. Aspord, and T. Decaens, *Predictive Factors for Response to PD-1/PD-L1 Checkpoint Inhibition in the Field of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Current Status and Challenges.* Cancers, 2019. **11**(10): p. 1554.
- Kudo, M., Sequential Therapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma after Failure of Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab Combination Therapy. Liver Cancer, 2021. 10(2): p. 85-93.
- 65. Raybould, A.L. and H. Sanoff, *Combination Antiangiogenic and Immunotherapy for Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Evidence to Date.* Journal of hepatocellular carcinoma, 2020. 7: p. 133-142.
- 66. Qi, X., et al., *Nanoliposome C6-Ceramide in combination with anti-CTLA4 antibody improves anti-tumor immunity in hepatocellular cancer*. The FASEB Journal, 2022.
  36(4): p. e22250.
- 67. Sun, Y., J.D. Malaer, and P.A. Mathew, *Lectin-like transcript 1 as a natural killer cellmediated immunotherapeutic target for triple negative breast cancer and prostate cancer.* Journal of cancer metastasis and treatment, 2019. **2019**(5): p. 80.

- Bambard, N.D., S.O. Mathew, and P.A. Mathew, *LLT1-mediated activation of IFN-gamma production in human natural killer cells involves ERK signalling pathway*. Scand J Immunol, 2010. **71**(3): p. 210-9.
- Mantovani, S., et al., Natural Killer Cell Responses in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Implications for Novel Immunotherapeutic Approaches. Cancers, 2020. 12(4): p. 926.
- Bozward, A.G., et al., Natural Killer Cells and Regulatory T Cells Cross Talk in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Exploring Therapeutic Options for the Next Decade. Frontiers in Immunology, 2021. 12.
- 71. Seery, T.E., et al., *Immunotherapy combining NK and T cell activation with IL-15 super* agonist (N-803), off-the-shelf high-affinity CD16 NK (haNK) or PDL1 targeted haNK and checkpoint inhibitor in relapsed/refractory advanced pancreatic cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2020. **38**(15\_suppl): p. e15015-e15015.
- Ringelhan, M., J.A. McKeating, and U. Protzer, *Viral hepatitis and liver cancer*. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2017. **372**(1732).
- 73. Lohitesh, K., R. Chowdhury, and S. Mukherjee, *Resistance a major hindrance to chemotherapy in hepatocellular carcinoma: an insight*. Cancer Cell International, 2018.
  18(1): p. 44.
- 74. Chen, M.S., Jr. and J. Dang, *Hepatitis B among Asian Americans: Prevalence, progress, and prospects for control.* World journal of gastroenterology, 2015. 21(42): p. 11924-11930.
- 75. Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., L.A. Horn, and S.T. Haile, *The programmed death-1 immune-suppressive pathway: barrier to antitumor immunity*. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 2014. 193(8): p. 3835-3841.

- 76. Aldemir, H., et al., *Cutting Edge: Lectin-Like Transcript 1 Is a Ligand for the CD161 Receptor.* The Journal of Immunology, 2005. 175(12): p. 7791.
- 77. Khair, D.O., et al., Combining Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: Established and Emerging Targets and Strategies to Improve Outcomes in Melanoma. Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. 10.
- 78. Marrufo, A.M., et al., Blocking LLT1 (CLEC2D, OCIL)-NKRP1A (CD161) interaction enhances natural killer cell-mediated lysis of triple-negative breast cancer cells. Am J Cancer Res, 2018. 8(6): p. 1050-1063.
- Mathew, S. and P. Mathew, Overexpression of LLT1 (CLEC2D) on prostate cancer cells inhibits NK cell-mediated killing through LLT1-NKRP1A interaction (TUM10P.1052).
  The Journal of Immunology, 2015. 194(1 Supplement): p. 211.33.
- Hong, G., et al., Progression-Free Survival of a Patient with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma Treated with Adoptive Cell Therapy Using Natural Killer Cells: A Case Report. Onco Targets Ther, 2022. 15: p. 255-266.